
	

__________________________________________________________________________ 
763-479-0527 (Phone)                               1920 County Road 90                                   763-479-0528 (Fax) 

Independence, MN 55359 
http://independence.govoffice.com 

	

CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 
REGULAR MEETING 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 15, 2016 
 
 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING TIME: 7:30 PM 
 
1. Call to Order 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
3. Roll Call 

 
4. ****Consent Agenda**** 

 
All items listed under Consent Agenda are considered to be routine by Council and will be acted 
on by one motion.  There will be no separate discussion of these items. If discussion is desired, 
that item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and will be considered separately. 
 

a. Approval of City Council minutes from the October 25, 2016 City Council 
Meeting. 

b. Approval of Accounts Payable; Checks numbered 16614-16647. 
 For Information - Checks numbered 16600-16613 and	16648-16653 are 

Payroll Checks. 
 

5. Set Agenda – Anyone Not On The Agenda Can Be Placed Under Open/Misc.  
 

6. Reports of Boards and Committees by Council and Staff. 
 

7. PUBLIC HEARING:  George and Linda Becker (Applicants/Owners) request that the City 
consider the following actions for the property located at 4635 Lake Sarah Road, 
Independence, MN (PID No. 03-118-24-22-0002): 

 
a. RESOLUTION NO. 16-1115-01 – Considering approval of a variance to allow 

the subdivision of property in the AG-Agriculture zoning district; and  
 

b. A minor subdivision to allow the subdivision of the subject parcel into two (2) 
lots.   

 



 

8. PUBLIC HEARING:  Lisa Dayton (Applicant/Owner) requests that the City consider the 
following actions for the property located at 8415 Hitsman Lane (PID No. 17-118-24-31-
0004) in Independence, MN: 
 

a. RESOLUTION NO. 16-1115-02 – Considering approval A minor subdivision to 
permit the creation of a rural view lot.   

 
9. PUBLIC HEARING:  B. Benson Group (Applicant) and Joyce Larson (Owner) request that 

the City consider the following actions for the property located at 1160 County Road 19 N, 
Independence, MN (PID No. 25-118-24-42-0001): 

 
a. ORDINANCE 2016-08 – Which will rezone the property from Ag-Agriculture to 

RR-Rural Residential. 
 
b. RESOLUTION NO. 16-1115-03 – Considering approval of the preliminary and 

final plat for a four (4) 4 lot subdivision. 
 
10. Open/Misc. 
 
11. Adjourn. 



 

1 
City of Independence 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
7:30 p.m., October 11, 2016 
 

MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
INDEPENDENCE CITY COUNCIL  

TUESDAY, OCTOBER 25, 2016, –7:30 P.M. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER. 
 
Pursuant to due call and notice thereof, a regular meeting of the Independence City Council was called to 
order by Mayor Johnson at 7:30 p.m. 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE. 
 
Mayor Johnson led the group in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
3.  ROLL CALL  
 
PRESENT: Mayor Johnson, Councilors Betts, Spencer, Grotting and McCoy 
ABSENT: None 
STAFF: City Planner & City Administrator Mark Kaltsas, City Administrative Assistant Horner, City 

Attorney Bob Vose 
VISITORS: Parker Esterberg, Marit Esterberg, 3 Mound Westtonka High School Students 
 
4. ****Consent Agenda**** 
 

All items listed under Consent Agenda are considered to be routine by Council and will be acted on by one motion. 
There will be no separate discussion of these items. If discussion is desired, that item will be removed from the 
Consent Agenda and will be considered separately. 

 
a. Approval of City Council minutes from the October 11, 2016 City Council Meeting. 
b. Approval of City Council minutes from the October 5, 2016 City Council Workshop. 
c. Approval of Accounts Payable; Checks numbered 16568-16576. 

 For Information - Checks numbered 16577-16599 are Payroll Checks. 
d. Approval of Satisfaction of Hennepin County Repayment Agreement for the Hennepin County 

Rehabilitation Loan  
e. Approval of MnDOT Master Partnership Contract for the Highway 12 Light Maintenance. 

 RESOLUTION NO. 16-1025-02. 
 

McCoy requested pulling item # e off consent.  
 

Motion by Grotting, second by McCoy to remove item #e for further discussion, and to approve the 
Consent Agenda with that change. Ayes: Johnson, Grotting, Spencer, Betts and McCoy. Nays: None. 
Absent: None. MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 
 
5.   SET AGENDA – ANYONE NOT ON THE AGENDA CAN BE PLACED UNDER OPEN/MISC. 
 
6. REPORTS OF BOARDS & COMMITTEES BY COUNCIL AND STAFF 
 
Spencer attended the following meetings: 

 Planning Commission meeting October 18 
 Stocked Lake Sarah with 1,000 fish 



 

2 
City of Independence 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
7:30 p.m., October 11, 2016 
 

 
Grotting attended the following meetings: 

 Shared Services Firefighter meeting in Mound 
 

 
McCoy attended the following meetings: 

 Shared Services Firefighter meeting in Mound 
 
Betts attended the following meetings: 

 Shared Services Firefighter meeting in Mound 
 
Johnson attended the following meetings: 

 Northwest League of Municipalities Meeting 
 Loretto Fire Open House 
 Finance Committee Meeting for Community Action Partnership 
 Orono School Breakfast Meeting 
 Shared Services Firefighter meeting in Mound 
 Training Session at Met Council 

 
Horner attended the following meetings: 

 Planning Commission 
 Vinland Center to help with voting preregistration 

 
Kaltsas attended the following meetings: 
 

7. Director Gary Kroells, West Hennepin Public Safety - Activity Report for the Month of August, 2016. 
 

Chief Kroells highlighted several incidents’ to which they responded. For the full report of incidents please see the 
complete packet on the website. In addition to these, he mentioned that at least once per month an Officer helps 
residents’ in need. September 16 a WHPS Officer helped a driver who had a flat tire and was not comfortable 
changing it herself. Kroells updated the Hwy 12 project, saying the Code Red, web-sites, etc… have worked well in 
informing people. There are incentives for them to finish early. Regarding the turn lanes installed on Hwy 12 and 92, 
this is a short term fix, but is better than it was. 

 

Kaltsas spoke about the letter received from MnDOT regarding the reported dip and wave in Hwy 12. MnDOT’s 
response was they know the smoothness is less than desirable but they will not repair this. 

 

McCoy had a question on #23 on MnDOT maintenance agreement, and what is their labor rate-wondered if we needed 
to go with them. Kaltsas said we can use MnDOT to repair the new Hwy 12 lights, but we don’t have to. The City’s 
had locate requests and so now since they’re our lights we’re obligated to do them. They would provide a work order 
and we could use them or not. Kaltsas recommends we approve this so they could at least do the locates for us, and 
then we can decide. He attempted to get a fee schedule which changes yearly, but don’t have it yet. Most likely their 
rates will be less than the competitors. Kaltsas guessed less than a dozen per year for locates needed. McCoy asked 
who supplies power, Kaltsas said could be Xcel or Wright Hennepin. If it’s hit, that’s the City’s responsibility. We’d 
probably be able to get insurance to help cover this. McCoy was concerned about power being cut off right away, to 
avoid injury. Vose said MnDOT may be responsible for pole, but Xcel/Utility Co. has an obligation to respond right 
away to emergencies such as this. Regarding paragraph 23, if the City is sued, this directs who gets to choose the 
lawyer or who gets to direct what the lawyer does. In paragraph 12, says the City is only responsible for their acts. So, 
if MnDOT screws up, we’re not liable for this. Kaltsas said MnDOT has provided these locates for us, but now we’ve 



 

3 
City of Independence 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
7:30 p.m., October 11, 2016 
 

got take this on ourselves. 

 
Motion by McCoy, second by Spencer to approve the MnDOT Master Partnership Contract for the 
Highway 12 Light Maintenance. Ayes: Johnson, Betts, Spencer, Grotting and McCoy. Nays: None. 
Absent: None. MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 
 
 

8.  Fee Schedule Update: 
 

a. RESOLUTION NO. 16-1025-01 – Considering an update to the City’s Fee Schedule.  
  

Kaltsas addressed this again after it being tabled at the previous meeting. We’d like to clean up the fee 
schedule. Staff did an internal audit of this, and found the application fee covered a portion of expenses 
but not all. There was confusion with many applicants who expected all of their ‘escrow’ money back. 
Expenses often thought of as included in the application fee are water resource consultants, engineers, 
legal and planning when actually the total of these fees on an average equal the escrow amount paid. 
That is why Staff is requesting to flip these fees, and have the application fee more in line with the 
amount considered escrow now. We’d change ‘escrow’ to ‘deposit’ and make more clear how this 
deposit will be applied. We’d bill towards the initial application fee and continue billing until the $1250 
is exceeded, then we’d take it out of the deposit.  

 

It was also discussed to broaden the definitions of fees. Definitions include Type I consisting of simple 
concept, simple zoning test amendment, and simple site plan review. Type II includes complex concept 
plan, complex site plan and complex zoning text amendment. Johnson likes this simple idea because it 
will make it more clear to the applicants what’s expected of them. Kaltsas also said we’d collect the 
money owed to the City because up until now we’ve lost out. We’re also having the City Attorney record 
our documents which costs us, but will ensure all necessary things will be recorded. These fees will also 
include recording documents. This applies to smaller developments. McCoy suggested including that the 
City will record the documents included in the fee schedule. Kaltsas suggested putting that in the 
application instead, and McCoy agreed. The term escrow will change to deposit.  

 
Motion by Betts, second by Spencer to approve the fee schedule as presented. Ayes: Johnson, Betts, 
Spencer, Grotting and McCoy. Nays: None. Absent: None. MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 
 

Kaltsas spoke about the Community Room rental rates. We updated the community room policy 
recently, thought we needed to increase some rates for non-resident’s-not to make money but to account 
for clean-up and usage of the building. Staff checked with other Cities. Johnson wanted to make sure 
we’re not charging local organizations which Kaltsas confirmed. Johnson felt it important that our local 
residents have this space available for their organization functions. McCoy wondered why not raise the 
charge for events for 151-200 people. Kaltsas said Staff mostly raised the wedding events. Grotting 
suggested differentiating it between day vs night events. Kaltsas said we could raise the 151-200 to 
$1,000. McCoy confirmed we’ve changed the policy to require police presence of alcohol.  

 



 

4 
City of Independence 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
7:30 p.m., October 11, 2016 
 

Motion by McCoy, second by Grotting to approve the updated City’s Fee Schedule. Ayes: Johnson, 
Betts, Spencer, Grotting and McCoy. Nays: None. Absent: None. MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 
 
 

9.  Sewer Rate Study Discussion: 
 

             a.  Set Public Meeting Dates 
 
Staff went through every file to determine who are users but haven’t been paying for their availability. We’ve 
talked about having some open houses to discuss the deficit in this fund. There has been an increase in 
maintenance in sewer lines. We’re trying to sustain a positive cash balance in a 10 year time frame. It was 
found there is a need to raise the rates 8% in 2017, 10% in 2018 & 2019, and 3% each year thereafter. The 
current rate for those connected is $168 quarterly and by raising this $12 per quarter would bring each user up 
to $180 for year 1. The City needs to increase the availability charge also-or those who have it available but 
choose not to hook up because their on-site is working. But the cost to maintain this falls on the few who are 
connected. This would be an incentive for those to hook up, but to also make it fairer to those currently 
paying. We thought about increasing this from $32 to $90.75 per quarter.  
 
Kaltsas suggested possibly 2 open houses to notify residents of our findings and solicit feedback. We’d 
provide information on our web-site. This could be the initial thought. We have meetings on November 15 
and 29th, so prior to one of those we could have an open house. Johnson mentioned the November meeting 
dates, and Kaltsas said he found it in meeting minutes. Johnson and McCoy will be gone November 15 but 
there would still be quorum. Spencer said it was on the consent agenda September 13 to cancel the November 
8th meeting and moving it to the 15th. Spencer said with the Planning meeting on the 15th that may be too 
much. Johnson suggested the 22nd and the 29th for the open houses. Kaltsas said maybe 1 meeting would be 
enough, so we could schedule it November 29th. Planning Commission will be on the 15th at 6:30, Council at 7:30.  
 
 
Motion by Spencer, second by Johnson to hold the Sewer Rate Public Informational Meeting November 
29th.  Ayes: Johnson, Betts, Spencer, Grotting and McCoy. Nays: None. Absent: None. MOTION 
DECLARED CARRIED. 
 
Johnson summarized there will be no Council meeting on November 8 due to the elections, and will be meeting 
November 15 instead. November 29 at 7:30 is the meeting date instead of the regularly scheduled November 22 due to 
Thanksgiving.  Johnson asked about the joint meeting with Maple Plain that Kroells brought up to recognized the 
WHPS Reserve Officers. They would like to have this November 28 at 6:30 or so. Kroells said they just need to figure 
out the time. That night is significant because one of the Reserve Officers will have her 30th anniversary date on that 
day. McCoy said there’s a training class for firefighters here that night, but he thought he’d be able to step out for a bit.  
 
Motion by Betts, second by McCoy to hold the Joint Presentation Meeting with Maple Plain November 
28th.  Ayes: Johnson, Betts, Spencer, Grotting and McCoy. Nays: None. Absent: None. MOTION 
DECLARED CARRIED. 
 
Johnson asked the students who were present if they had any questions, but there were none.  
 
Motion by Betts, second by Grotting to Adjourn at 8:50 p.m.  Ayes: Johnson, Betts, Spencer, Grotting 
and McCoy. Nays: None. Absent: None. MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 
 



4635	Lake	Sarah	Road	Variance	and	Minor	Subdivision	 11.18.2016	 	
	 Page	1	

 

City of Independence 

Request for a Variance and Minor Subdivision for the  
Property Located at 4635 Lake Sarah Road 

 

To: City Council 

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 
Meeting Date: November 15, 2016 

Applicant/Owner: George and Linda Becker  

Location: 4635 Lake Sarah Road 
 

Request: 
George and Linda Becker (Applicants/Owners) request that the City consider the following 
actions for the property located at 4635 Lake Sarah Road, Independence, MN (PID No. 03-118-
24-22-0002): 
 

a. A variance to allow the subdivision of property in the AG-Agriculture zoning 
district. 

 
b. A minor subdivision to allow the subdivision of the subject parcel into two (2) 

lots.   
 
 

Property/Site Information: 
The subject property is located north of CSAH 11 and on the west and east sides of Lake Sarah 
Road.  There is an existing home and outbuildings located on the west side of the property.  The 
property has the following site characteristics:    
 

Property Information: 4635 Lake Sarah Drive 
 Zoning: Agriculture 
 Comprehensive Plan: Agriculture 
 Acreage: (BEFORE) 34.48 acres 
 Acreage: (AFTER) 18.12 acres – West Parcel (TRACT B) 
           16.36 acres – East Parcel (TRACT C) 
  
 
 
 



4635	Lake	Sarah	Road	Variance	and	Minor	Subdivision	 11.18.2016	 	
	 Page	2	

 

4635 Lake Sarah Road  

   
 

 
Discussion: 
The applicant brought this concept to the City in August seeking preliminary feedback relating to 
whether or not a variance to allow the subdivision of the property based on the physical 
boundary of Lake Sarah Road would be considered.   Planning Commissioners provided 
feedback to the applicant that the requested variance and subdivision appeared to meet the 
requirements for granting a variance and allowing a subdivision.   
 
The original farmstead is somewhat unique in that the property is bisected by Lake Sarah Road.  
A portion (approximately 16 acres) of the property is located on the east side of Lake Sarah Road 
(see diagram below) with the remainder of the property (approximately 16 acres) located on the 
west side of Lake Sarah Road.  The City does not allow the subdivision of property zoned 
Agriculture with the exception of lot line rearrangements and rural view lot splits.  The City 
would have to consider granting a variance from the zoning ordinance to allow the subdivision of 
this property.  The overall property does not meet the minimum 40 acre requirement to realize a 

PROPOSED SITE 
TO BE SPLIT



4635	Lake	Sarah	Road	Variance	and	Minor	Subdivision	 11.18.2016	 	
	 Page	3	

 

rural view lot subdivision.  The parcel is located just outside (west) of the area guided for rural 
residential development.     
 
Staff reviewed other parcels in the City to try to determine if there were any that would have a 
similar situation.  The only other parcel discovered with a similar condition (where the property 
is bisected by a right of way) is the parcel directly north of the subject parcel.  This parcel is 
owned by Three Rivers Park District.  
 
Should the parcel be subdivided, the newly created and existing remaining parcel would not be 
completely out of character with the surrounding parcels.  The parcel to the east side of Lake 
Sarah Road backs up to the City’s park on the east side and to the Three Rivers Park District 
parcel on the north side.  The parcel to the south is approximately 10 acres in size and has an 
existing home.  On the west side of Lake Sarah Road the properties range in size from more than 
40 acres to less than 5 acres.  
 

 
 
Public Comments: 
At the time this report was prepared, the City had received preliminary comments from Three 
Rivers Park District regarding the proposed subdivision.  The Park District was supportive of the 
subdivision and is interested in possibly seeking a similar action for their property to the north.  
The Park District also noted that they have a regional trail “search” corridor along County Road 
11 and Lake Sarah Road which would extend north towards Lake Sarah and then into Lake 
Rebecca Park.  The City of Independence did not include the search corridor in the 
Comprehensive Plan because the City did not have the ability to fully study and vet the possible 
corridor (see map below and larger map attached).  The Park District asked if the City would 

PARCEL ON WEST SIDE OF LAKE SARAH DR.

APPROXIMATELY 16.0 ACRES 



4635	Lake	Sarah	Road	Variance	and	Minor	Subdivision	 11.18.2016	 	
	 Page	4	

 

retain a future trail easement as a part of the required subdivision.  Historically, the City has 
retained additional County/City right of way where known improvements were proposed.  In this 
case, it should be noted that the City did not support the trail search corridor in the 2030 
Comprehensive Plan.  There has also not been an approved alignment for a trail along Lake 
Sarah Road.  Staff is asking direction from the Planning Commission regarding this issue.   
 

 
Summary: 
The City has standards for granting a variance which need to be considered prior to making a 
recommendation relating to the application.  The standards established by the City require the 
applicant to demonstrate that the requested variance does not create a situation that is not in 
keeping with the character of the surrounding area.  In addition, the applicant must demonstrate 
that the requested variance is unique to the subject property.  The standards for granting a 
variance are as follows: 
 
520.21. Standards for granting variances. Subdivision 1. The City Council may grant a variance 
from the terms of this zoning code, including restrictions placed on nonconformities, in cases 
where: 1) the variance is in harmony with the general purposes and intent of this zoning code; 2) 
the variance is consistent with the comprehensive plan; and 3) the applicant establishes that 



4635	Lake	Sarah	Road	Variance	and	Minor	Subdivision	 11.18.2016	 	
	 Page	5	

 

there are practical difficulties in complying with the zoning code (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)  
 

           Subd. 2. An applicant for a variance must demonstrate that there are practical difficulties 
in  

complying with the zoning code. For such purposes, “practical difficulties” means:  
 
(a) The property owner proposes to use the property in a reasonable manner not 

permitted by the zoning code;  
 

(b) the plight of the property owner is due to circumstances unique to the property not 
created by the landowner;  

 
(c) the variance, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.  

 
Economic considerations alone do not constitute practical difficulties. Practical difficulties 
include, but are not limited to, inadequate access to direct sunlight for solar energy systems. 
(Amended, Ord. 2011-08)  

 
Subd. 3. The City Council shall not grant a variance to permit a use that is not allowed under the 
zoning code based on the zoning classification of the affected property. (Amended, Ord. 2011-
08)  

 
520.23. Conditions and restrictions. The board of adjustments may recommend and the City 
Council may impose conditions on a variance. Conditions must be directly related to and must 
bear a rough proportionality to the impact created by the variance. (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)  

 
 

Consideration of the standards for granting a variance: 
a. The applicants are proposing to use the property in a manner consistent with the AG-

Agriculture Zoning District.   
 

b. The properties created by the subdivision are similar in nature and character to the 
surrounding properties.   

 
c. The character of the surrounding area is mixed residential/agricultural and guided for 

long term agriculture.  The proposed subdivision and the properties that would be 
created appear to be in keeping with the City’s comprehensive plan. 

 
d. The requested variance to allow the subdivision of the property is unique to this 

property.  There may be several other properties in the City that have a similar 
condition.  

 
The City will need to determine if the requested variance to allow the subdivision of the property 
meets the requirements for granting a variance.  The proposed subdivision, if approved, would 
create two properties that meet all other applicable criteria of the City’s zoning ordinance.   



4635	Lake	Sarah	Road	Variance	and	Minor	Subdivision	 11.18.2016	 	
	 Page	6	

 

 
The existing farm house on Tract B has an existing on-site septic system that will remain in use 
with the existing home.  Upon the sale of the parcel, the City will require an inspection of the 
system.  Tract C will need to accommodate the requisite primary and secondary on-site septic 
system locations.  The applicant will need to provide the City with information verifying that the 
site can accommodate a primary and secondary site.  The proposed subdivision delineates the 
requisite drainage and utility easements along all property lines.   

 
The newly created Tract C will be required to pay the City’s Park Dedication fee.  For this 
property, the park dedication fee amount is $11,750.00.  This fee will need to be paid prior to 
recording the subdivision.    

 
Park dedication fee $3,500 per lot up to 4.99 acres, plus $750 per acre for each acre over 5. 
 
 16 acres - $3,500 for first 5 acres, plus $8,250 for the additional 11 acres = $11,750 
 

The proposed subdivision appears to meet all of the applicable standards of the City’s zoning and 
subdivision ordinance.  The lots being created will fit into the surrounding area and appear to have 
minimal impacts on the surrounding properties.  The adjacent properties are similar in size to the 
proposed lots after the subdivision. 
 
 

Planning Commission Recommendation: 
Planning Commissioners reviewed the requested variance and minor subdivision.  Commissioners 
noted that there were very few properties in the City with similar conditions.  Commissioners 
noted that this property was very close to property guided RR-Rural Residential by the 
Comprehensive Plan.  Commissioners discussed the idea of requiring a trail easement on the 
property.  Planning Commissioners did not believe that there was enough study done at this time 
to recommend taking an easement on this property.  Commissioners found that the criteria for 
granting a variance had been met and recommended approval of the requested variance and minor 
subdivision  
 

 

Planning Commission Recommendation: 
The Planning Commission recommended approval of the requested variance and minor 
subdivision with the following findings and conditions: 
 

1. The proposed variance and minor subdivision request meet all applicable conditions 
and restrictions stated in Chapter V, Section 520.19, Procedures on variances, and 
Chapter V, Section 500, Subdivisions, in the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 

 
2. The requested variance is found to meet the criteria for granting a variance as a result 

of the unique characteristics of this property.  Following approval of the variance, this 



4635	Lake	Sarah	Road	Variance	and	Minor	Subdivision	 11.18.2016	 	
	 Page	7	

 

property will continue to be consistent with the character of the surrounding property 
and the future land use as guided by the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
3. The Applicant shall provide to the City verification that Tract C can accommodate a 

primary and secondary septic site.   
 

4. The Applicant shall execute and record the requisite drainage and utility easement 
with the county within six (6) months of approval.  

 
5. The Applicant shall pay the park dedication fees in the amount of $11,750 prior to the 

applicant receiving final approval to record the subdivision by the City. 
 

6. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review of the 
requested variance and subdivision. 
 

7. The Applicant shall record the subdivision and City Council Resolution with the 
county within six (6) months of approval.  

 
 

Attachments:  

 Application 
 Survey  
 Comprehensive Plan Figure 13 (Parks and Trails) 
 Letter from Three Rivers Park District 



 

RESOLUTION NO. 16-1115-01 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A VARIANCE AND MINOR SUBDIVISION  
FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 4635 LAKE SARAH ROAD  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Independence (the “City) is a municipal corporation under the 

laws of Minnesota; and 

WHEREAS, the City adopted a Comprehensive Plan in 2010 to guide the development of 
the community; and  

WHEREAS, the City has adopted a Zoning and Subdivision Ordinance and other official 
controls to assist in implementing the Comprehensive Plan; and  

WHEREAS, George and Linda Becker (the “Applicants/Owners”) have submitted a 
request for a variance and minor subdivision for the property located at 4635 Lake Sarah Road 
(PID No. 03-118-24-22-0002); and  

WHEREAS, the Property is legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto; and  

WHEREAS, the Property is zoned Agriculture; and 

WHEREAS the requested variance and minor subdivision meets all requirements, 
standards and specifications of the City of Independence subdivision and zoning ordinance for 
Agriculture Property; and 

WHEREAS the City held a public hearing on November 15, 2016 to review the 
application for a variance and minor subdivision, following mailed and published noticed as 
required by law; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed all materials submitted by the Applicant; 
considered the oral and written testimony offered by the applicant and all interested parties; and 
has now concluded that the application is in compliance with all applicable standards and can be 
considered for approval. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
INDEPENDENCE, MINNESOTA, that it should and hereby does approve the application by 



George and Linda Becker for a variance and minor subdivision per the City’s subdivision and 
zoning regulations with the following conditions: 

 
1. The proposed variance and minor subdivision request meet all applicable conditions 

and restrictions stated in Chapter V, Section 520.19, Procedures on variances, and 
Chapter V, Section 500, Subdivisions, in the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 

 
2. The Applicant shall provide to the City verification that Tract C can accommodate a 

primary and secondary septic site.   
 

3. The Applicant shall execute and record the requisite drainage and utility easement 
with the county within six (6) months of approval.  

 
4. The Applicant shall pay the park dedication fees in the amount of $11,750 prior to the 

applicant receiving final approval to record the subdivision by the City. 
 

5. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review of the 
requested variance and subdivision. 
 

6. The Applicant shall record the subdivision and City Council Resolution with the 
county within six (6) months of approval.  

 
 

This resolution was adopted by the City Council of the City of Independence on this 
15th day of November, 2016, by a vote of ____ayes and ____nays. 
         
 

______________________________ 
       Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 __________________________________ 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 
 

(SEAL) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



EXHIBIT A 













8415 Hitsman Lane – Minor Subdivision Page 1 

 

City of Independence 

Minor Subdivision to Permit a Rural View Lot for the  
Property Located at 8415 Hitsman Lane 

 

To: City Council  

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

Meeting Date: November 15, 2016 

Applicant: Lisa Dayton 

Owner: Lisa Dayton 

Location: 8415 Hitsman Lane 

 
Request: 
Lisa Dayton (Applicant/Owner) requests that the City consider the following actions for the 
property located at 8415 Hitsman Lane (PID No. 17-118-24-31-0004) in Independence, MN: 
 

a. A minor subdivision to permit the creation of a rural view lot.   
 
 
Property/Site Information: 
The property is located south of US HWY 12 and south of Hitsman Lane.  The property is 
accessed via a 33 foot wide private driveway which extends south from Hitsman Lane.  The 
property has an existing home and several outbuildings.  The property is comprised of significant 
wetlands and upland acreage.  The property has the following characteristics: 
 

Property Information: 8415 Hitsman Lane  
 Zoning: Agriculture 
 Comprehensive Plan: Agriculture 

Acreage (BEFORE): 58.92 acres  
Acreage (AFTER): North Parcel – 10.00 acres 
         South Parcel – 48.92 acres 

   

 

 

 



8415 Hitsman Lane – Minor Subdivision Page 2 

 

Site Aerial – 8415 Hitsman Lane 

 
 
Discussion: 
The applicant is proposing to subdivide the property in order to create a rural view lot.  The 
applicant is proposing to create one (1) rural view lot in accordance with the provisions set forth 
in the City’s Zoning Ordinance.  The subject property has a total acreage of 58.92 acres.  The 
provisions in the Agriculture Zoning District allow one (1) rural view lot for every 40 acres of 
land under the same ownership.  Under the current zoning standards, the subject property has the 
ability to realize one (1) rural view lot for a total of two (2) lots on this property.   
 
Rural view lots must have the following characteristics: 
  

Lot size required - between 2.5 and 10 acres 
Lot size proposed – North Parcel – 10.00 acres 



8415 Hitsman Lane – Minor Subdivision Page 3 

 

 
Minimum lot frontage required – 300 LF (for property between 5-10 acres) 
Minimum lot frontage proposed – North Parcel  – 300 LF    
 
Ratio of lot frontage to lot depth required - no more than 1:4 
Ratio of lot frontage to lot depth proposed – Parcel A - ~1:5 (300:1500) 
 

In addition to the minimum size necessary to subdivide, the ordinance requires a minimum of 2.5 
acres of buildable upland, 300 LF of frontage on a right of way and no greater than a 1:4 ratio of 
lot frontage to lot depth for each rural view lot.  Based on the proposed subdivision, the rural 
view lot would have approximately 5 acres of useable upland and 300 LF of frontage on the 33 
foot wide easement.   
 
The existing property is accessed via a 33 foot wide parcel that connects to Hitsman Lane.  It 
appears that this parcel was historically established as a cart way.   As proposed both lots do not 
meet the minimum public right of way frontage requirements of the City’s ordinance.   The City 
can grant a waiver to the frontage requirements if the criteria established in the City’s ordinance 
are met.  The configuration proposes to utilize the common driveway provision of the City’s 
zoning ordinance.  The City allows common driveways to be utilized for up to three lots if all 
applicable criteria established in the ordinance are satisfied.  The criteria established for allowing 
a common driveway are as follows: 
  

Subd. 20. "Driveway, common." An easement encumbered by a common driveway agreement 
that provides for access, construction, maintenance and financing of private vehicular and pedestrian 
access to not more than three lots. A common driveway shall be considered if evidence of the following 
standards is met: (Added, Ord. 2010-06) 
 

(a)  Extension of a public street is not physically feasible as determined by the city. If the 
city determines that there is need for such extension, this provision shall not apply, and 
the right-of-way for a public street shall be provided by dedication in the plat; or 
(Added, Ord. 2010-06) 
 

(b)  The city determines that a public road extension would adversely impact natural 
amenities, including wetlands or stands of mature trees containing deciduous trees 
greater than 12 inches in diameter or coniferous trees greater than 25 feet in height; or 
(Added, Ord. 2010-06) 
 

(c)  There is no feasible present or future means of extending right-of-way from other 
directions; and (Added, Ord. 2010-06) 



8415 Hitsman Lane – Minor Subdivision Page 4 

 

 
(d)  Covenants which assign driveway installation and future maintenance responsibility are 

submitted and recorded with the titles of the parcels which are benefitted. The city will 
not provide maintenance or snow plowing for common or shared access driveways; and 
(Added, Ord. 2010-06) 
 

(e)  Common driveways shall be constructed in accordance with the provisions established 
in the City of Independence Manual of Standards. (Added, Ord. 2010-06) 

 
The extension Hitsman Lane to the south is unlikely due to current zoning and development 
standards of the City.  In addition, there is a large wetland impeding the potential extension of 
the road to the south.  The City has requested that the applicant provide an additional 33 foot 
wide easement along the portion of property being developed.  This will provide the City with 
the full 66 foot right of way width in case of future development.  The City will need to 
determine if the criteria for allowing a common driveway are satisfied on this parcel.    The 
applicant would need to establish covenants which assign maintenance responsibility for the 
parcels granted access off of the common driveway.  The City would need to review the 
proposed driveway construction details to ensure that it will be constructed to a standard 
adequate to accommodate public safety equipment. 
 
The proposed lot depth to lot frontage ratio for the rural view lot would be ~1:5.  This lot width 
to lot depth ration exceeds the maximum range but creates a “clean” lot line.  Moving the line to 
adjust for the lot depth would create an irregular parcel behind the proposed rural view lot.  
Moving the line to the south to provide more lot width would create a lot that is greater than 10 
acres.  The City will need to provide direction relating to the proposed lot depth to lot width 
ratio.   
 
The proposed subdivision would produce a 10 acre rural view lot.  The proposed property would 
be “in line” with the property to the west and north.  The proposed North Parcel would 
accommodate a new building pad given its overall size, topography and proposed dimensions.  
Any development on the property would need to meet all applicable setbacks including those 
from wetlands.   The City received an on-site septic report verifying that the proposed rural view 
lot can accommodate a primary and secondary on-site septic system.  The applicant will need to 
include the requisite drainage and utility easements as required by ordinance (Section 500.15, 
Subd.’s 1 and 2) for both the existing and proposed parcel. 
 
The remaining 48.92 acres would continue to be a conforming lot of record.  The existing home 
and detached accessory structure meet all applicable setbacks in the after condition.  The 



8415 Hitsman Lane – Minor Subdivision Page 5 

 

remaining property will have no rural view lot subdivision eligibilities following this 
subdivision. 
 
The newly created North Parcel will be required to pay the City’s requisite Park Dedication fee.  
For this property the requirement is $7,250.  This fee will need to be paid prior to recording the 
subdivision.    

 
Park dedication fee of $3,500 per lot up to 4.99 acres, 

plus $750 per acre for each acre over 5acres 
  
The applicant has submitted information to the City verifying the ability of the newly created lot 
to accommodate a primary and secondary septic system.  The existing lot has an existing septic 
system.  The home is currently for sale and upon its sale will be required to have the system 
inspected.  The City believes that this system will not be found to be in compliance with septic 
system standards and will need to be replaced.  The proposed lot appears to meet most applicable 
criteria relating to the subdivision and zoning standards. 
 
 
Neighbor Comments: 
The City had comments from a neighboring property owner.  The neighboring property owner 
stopped into City Hall to review the plans.  The neighboring owner asked questions pertaining to 
the subdivision and wanted to understand the proposed subdivision in relation to their respective 
property.  The neighboring owner generally supported the proposed subdivision.  At the public 
hearing the neighboring property owner to the west commented on the proposed subdivision and 
offered his support of the subdivision.  The City also confirmed that the existing wetlands could 
not be altered or built upon.   
 
 
Planning Commission Recommendation: 
Commissioners discussed the proposed subdivision.  Commissioners considered whether or not to 
recommend altering the proposed parcel configuration to conform to the lot depth to lot width 
requirements by shortening and widening the proposed new parcel.  Commissioners noted that 
requiring the applicant to conform to the lot depth to lot width ratio would create an awkward “gap” 
on the remaining property.  Planning Commissioners discussed the condition of the septic system on 
the existing property and recommended that the City include a condition requiring the applicant to 
verify the location and ability of the remainder property to provide an alternative septic site.  
Commissioners ultimately recommended approving the proposed subdivision utilizing the initial 
configuration. 
 



8415 Hitsman Lane – Minor Subdivision Page 6 

 

 
 
Recommendation: 
The Planning Commission recommended approval of the request for a rural view lot subdivision, with 
the following findings and conditions: 
 

1. The proposed rural view lot subdivision meets all applicable conditions and restrictions stated 
Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 

 
2. City Council approval of the rural view lot subdivision is subject to the following: 

 
a) The Applicant shall provide the City with all requisite materials and a location to verify 

that the South Parcel can accommodate an alternative septic site.   
 

b) The Applicant shall pay the park dedication fees in the amount of $7,250, for the newly 
created North Parcel, prior to the applicant receiving final approval to record the 
subdivision by the City. 
 

c) The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review of the requested 
minor subdivision. 
 

d) The Applicant shall record the subdivision and City Council Resolution with the county 
within six (6) months of approval.  

 
e) The Applicant shall execute and record the requisite drainage and utility and right of way 

easements with the county within six (6) months of approval.  
 

f) The remaining South Parcel will have no remaining rural view lot eligibilities. 
 

 
 
 

Attachments: 
1. Application 
2. Property Pictures 
3. Proposed Subdivision Exhibit 

 

 

 
 

 

 



8415 Hitsman Lane – Minor Subdivision Page 7 

 

View of 8415 Hitsman Lane (Looking North) 

 

 
View of 8415 Hitsman Lane (Looking South) 

 

 



 

RESOLUTION NO. 16-1115-02 

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A MINOR SUBDIVISION TO ALLOW A RURAL VIEW LOT 
SUBDIVISION AS REQUESTED BY LISA DAYTON FOR THE  

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 8415 HITSMAN LANE 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Independence (the “City) is a municipal corporation under the laws 
of Minnesota; and 

WHEREAS, the City adopted a Comprehensive Plan in 2010 to guide the development of 
the community; and  

WHEREAS, the City has adopted a Zoning Ordinance and other official controls to assist in 
implementing the Comprehensive Plan; and  

WHEREAS, Lisa Dayton (the “Applicant”) has submitted a request for a minor subdivision 
to allow a rural view lot subdivision for the property located at 8415 Hitsman Lane (PID No. 17-
118-24-31-0004); and  

WHEREAS, the Property is legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto; and 

WHEREAS, the Property is zoned Agriculture; and 

WHEREAS the requested minor subdivision meets all requirements, standards and 
specifications of the City of Independence subdivision and zoning ordinance for Agriculture and 
Rural Residential Property; and 

WHEREAS the City held a public hearing on November 15, 2016 to review the application 
for a minor subdivision, following mailed and published noticed as required by law; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed all materials submitted by the Applicant; 
considered the oral and written testimony offered by the applicant and all interested parties; and has 
now concluded that the application is in compliance with all applicable standards and can be 
considered for approval. 



NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
INDEPENDENCE, MINNESOTA, that it should and hereby does approve the application by Lisa 
Dayton for a minor subdivision to allow a rural view lot per the City’s subdivision and zoning 
regulations with the following conditions: 

 
1. The proposed minor subdivision for a rural view lot subdivision meets all applicable 

criteria and conditions stated in Chapter V, Section 500, Planning and Land Use 
Regulations of the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 
 

2. City Council approval of the rural view lot subdivision is subject to the following: 
 

a. The Applicant shall provide the City with all requisite materials and a location to 
verify that the South Parcel can accommodate an alternative septic site.   

 
3. The Applicant shall pay the park dedication fees in the amount of $7,250, for the newly 

created North Parcel, prior to the applicant receiving final approval to record the 
subdivision by the City. 
 

4. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review of the requested 
minor subdivision. 
 

5. The Applicant shall record the subdivision and City Council Resolution with the county 
within six (6) months of approval.  

 
6. The Applicant shall execute and record the requisite drainage and utility and right of 

way easements with the county within six (6) months of approval.  
 

7. The remaining South Parcel will have no remaining rural view lot eligibilities. 
 
 

This resolution was adopted by the City Council of the City of Independence on this 
15th day of November, 2016, by a vote of ____ayes and ____nays. 
         
 

______________________________ 
       Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

 __________________________________ 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 
 

 

(SEAL) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



EXHIBIT A 











Settlers Prairie Subdivision – Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat Page 1 

 

City of Independence 

Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat Approval Request for the 

Settlers Prairie Subdivision 

 

To: City Council  

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

Meeting Date: November 15, 2016 

Applicant: B. Benson Group 

Owner: Joyce Larson - Trustee 

Location: 1160 County Road 19 N. 

 
Request: 
B. Benson Group (Applicant) and Joyce Larson (Owner) request that the City consider the following actions 
for the property located at 1160 County Road 19 N, Independence, MN (PID No. 25-118-24-42-0001): 
 

a. Rezoning form Ag-Agriculture to RR-Rural Residential. 
 
b. Preliminary Plat for a four (4) 4 lot subdivision. 
 
c. Final Plat for a four (4) lot subdivision. 

 
 
Property/Site Information: 
The property is located on the east side of County Road 19 N. and just south of Willow Street.  There is an 
existing home and several accessory structures located on the property.  The house is accessed via a 
gravel driveway off of County Road 19 N.  The property is a combination of rolling hills, tillable acreage and 
wetlands.  The property has the following characteristics: 
 

Property Information: 1160 County Road 19 N.  
 Zoning: Agriculture 
 Comprehensive Plan: Rural Residential 

Acreage: 19.83 acres  
  

 



Settlers Prairie Subdivision – Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat Page 2 

 

Site Aerial – 1160 County Road 19 N. 

 
 
Discussion: 
The Planning Commission reviewed the same request for this subdivision in September of 2015.  The 
Commission held a public hearing and ultimately recommended approval of the proposed subdivision.  
Following the Planning Commission review, the applicant ran into issues with the watershed district review 
of the property.  The final wetland delineation identified an additional wetland on the property and caused 
the road to need to shift to the south.  Following discussions with the watershed district last fall and earlier 
this year, the applicant decided to withdraw their application.  The applicant has now worked through the 
watershed issues and has made a new application seeking Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat approval 
for a four (4) lot subdivision to be known as Settlers Prairie Subdivision.  The proposed subdivision would 
split the existing 20 acre parcel into four lots.  There is an existing home located on the west edge of the 
property just off of County Road 19 N.  The existing home would remain in the after condition and be 
located on one of the four lots.  
 
The property is currently zoned Ag – Agriculture and is guided by the City’s Comprehensive Plan as a RR-
Rural Residential property (See Map – Green = Agriculture, Yellow = Rural Residential). 



Settlers Prairie Subdivision – Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat Page 3 

 

 
 
 
Rezoning 
 
Rezoning this property is consistent with the City’s 2030 Comprehensive Plan.  Rezoning of this property is 
also consistent with the zoning of the property to the south and west.  There are three subdivisions that 
surround this property which are similar in nature to that which is proposed.   
 
Site Plan 
 
The City allows the subdivision of property in the rural residential zoning district if it can be shown to meet 
all applicable criteria of the ordinance.  The City’s applicable standards are further defined as follows: 

 
Subd. 3. Density. Lots of record in the rural residential district may be divided or 

subdivided into the following maximum number of lots, said maximum number to include the lot for 
any existing dwelling unit or other principal use: (Amended, Ord. 2010-01)  
 
 Area of Lot      Maximum Number  
 of Record      of Lots Permitted 
 7.5 acres or less     One  
 7.6 through 12.5 acres     Two  
 12.6 through 17.5 acres    Three  
 17.6 through 22.5 acres    Four  
 22.6 through 27.5 acres    Five  
 27.6 through 32.5 acres    Six  
 32.6 through 37.5 acres    Seven  
 37.6 through 42.5 acres    Eight  
 42.6 through 47.5 acres    Nine, plus one addn. lot for every five  

addn. acres of land. 
 

Subject Site 



Settlers Prairie Subdivision – Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat Page 4 

 

In addition to the maximum lot density, the City has the following standards pertaining to Rural Residential 
lots. 
 

530.03. Physical Standards.   
 
Subd. 3.   Physical  standards.   All  lots and construction  thereon must meet  the  following physical 
standards: 
 
(a) Minimum lot area    a 2.50 acres buildable land 
 
(b) Maximum lot area    10 acres  

 
  (c)  Minimum lot frontage on an improved public road or street: 
 
      Lot area       Minimum frontage 

2.50 – 3.49 acres        b 200 feet  
3.50 – 4.99 acres        b 250 feet  
5.00 – 10.00 acres        b 300 feet  
 

(e)  Lot depth.  The ratio of lot frontage to lot depth must be no more than 1:4. 
 
a  A  lot  must  be  a  minimum  of  2.50  acres  buildable  land  with  a  demonstrated  capability  to 
accommodate  two  on‐site waste  disposal  systems.    Buildable  land must  be  contiguous  and  not 
separated by streams, wetlands, slopes in excess of 10% or other physical impediments. 
 
b A waiver to permit lots with reduced frontage on a public right‐of‐way, neck lots or lots with 
no frontage on a public right‐of‐way but with frontage on a common driveway may be 
considered and granted or not granted. If granted, evidence must be provided that all 
standards established and defined in Section 510.05, Subdivision 20 of this zoning code are 
met: (Amended, Ord. 2010‐06) 

 
A more detailed breakdown of the proposed individual lots is as follows: 
  
Block 1  Area  Upland Acreage  Frontage Lot Frontage to Lot Depth 
Lot 1   3.56 acres  2.51 acres  575/456 LF  1:1 
Lot 2  5.43 acres 2.91 acres  473 LF   1:1 
Lot 3   3.48 acres 3.48 acres  122 LF   1:1 
Lot 4   5.08 acres 3.26 acres  990 LF   2:1 
 
The applicant is proposing to provide access into the property by developing a new public cul-de-sac off of 
County Road 19 into the middle of the subject property.  The road is proposed to meet all applicable City 
standards for road and right of way width.  The new road would follow the north property line into the site.  
The driveway which provides access to the existing home would be relocated such that it connects to the 
new cul-de-sac and no longer connects to County Road 19 N.  There are several existing accessory 
buildings that would be removed as a result of the proposed new road and associated right of way.  The 



Settlers Prairie Subdivision – Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat Page 5 

 

configuration of the proposed lots and potential building sites appears to take into account the location of 
the existing wetlands, primary and secondary septic locations and existing topography.  The applicant 
indicates the potential locations of a proposed building pad for each lot.  The proposed building pad is 
conceptual only, but provides the City with evidence that the lots can accommodate a new home site.  The 
applicant has submitted information to the City verifying the ability of each lot to accommodate a primary 
and secondary septic system. The applicant may need to revise the proposed secondary or alternative 
location to ensure that it meets the applicable setbacks from a wetland.  The size of the lots proposed will 
allow all applicable building setbacks to be met.  The proposed lots appear to meet all applicable criteria 
relating to the subdivision and zoning standards. 
 
There are several significant wetlands located on this property which make the subdivision more difficult.  
The applicant and the City have reviewed the location and boundaries of the wetlands on this property.  A 
wetland delineation has been completed and approved by the state, watershed and City.  Based on the 
current wetland boundaries, the applicant meets the minimum 2.5 acres of contiguous upland for all four 
lots.  The applicant will be required to maintain the requisite wetland buffer around the wetlands.   
 
All of the proposed lots would have the requisite amount of frontage on a public right of way.  The minimum 
frontage required for lots is as follows: 

 

 
 

Lots that are located on the terminus of a cul-de-sac are required to have a minimum of 50 LF of frontage.   
 
The proposed lot configuration is consistent with the existing subdivisions to the east and south.  Their 
configuration somewhat dictates the configuration of this parcel.  The extension of a public street to the 
south and east is unlikely due to the existing development and wetlands impeding the potential extension.  
The property to the north has an existing single-family home and has not been further subdivided.  It may 
be possible to connect a future road into the proposed road to serve the property to the north.  There is a 
large wetland located on the parcel to the north that could limit the full development of that parcel.   
 
Transportation 
The City sent the proposed subdivision to Hennepin County for their review of the proposed road access 
onto County Road 19 N.  Hennepin County found the proposed road access location to be acceptable; 
however, required that the existing driveway servicing the home be relocated to connect to the new road.      
 
 



Settlers Prairie Subdivision – Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat Page 6 

 

Storm Water 
The applicant is proposing to construct a storm water conveyance system to accommodate the runoff 
resulting from the construction of the pubic street.  The conveyance system includes a two bay filtration 
basin system to be located within a drainage and utility easement across Lot 2.  In addition, the applicant is 
proposing to install a small filtration basin on Lot 3 to aid in the runoff from the proposed lot.  This was one 
of the concerns raised at the public hearing last year.  The City has reviewed the conveyances system and 
noted several conditions that should be included with any approval (see attached memorandum from 
Hakanson Anderson, dated October 10, 2016). 
 
Approval from Minnehaha Creek Watershed District will be required.   Any conditions or findings made by 
the watershed will be required to be incorporated into the plans and become a condition of the final plat. 
 
Engineering 
The City has completed a review of the proposed grading plan (see attached memorandum from MSA 
Professionals, dated October 13, 2016).  The City has received revised plans based on the comments 
provided by the City’s engineer and is finalizing the review.  There did not appear to be any comments that 
would prohibit the development of the property or cause for the design to be substantially changed.  The 
individual lots will be required to apply for and be granted a grading permit at the time of building permit 
application.  At that time the City will review the individual lot grading 
 
Park Dedication 
The proposed subdivision is subject to the City’s park dedication requirements.  The park dedication is 
broken down as follows:  
 

Park dedication fee $3,500 per lot up to 4.99 acres, plus $750 per acre for each acre over 5. 
 

Lot 1 includes the existing home and accessory structures and will not be subject to additional park 
dedication fees.  The total amount of the park dedication is $10,500 for the three (3) new lots. 
 
 
Neighbor Comments: 
The City has received several questions and comments from adjacent property owners both verbally and at 
the public hearing.  Adjacent property owners had questions relating to the stormwater runoff from the 
proposed subdivision.  Neighboring property owners wanted to ensure that the stormwater runoff would not 
cause an increase or change to the water on their respective properties.   
 
 
Planning Commission Recommendation: 
Commissioners asked questions pertaining to the proposed rezoning and subdivision.  Commissioners 
believed the plan was in keeping and consistent with the previously approved preliminary plat.  



Settlers Prairie Subdivision – Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat Page 7 

 

Commissioners discussed the storm water issues brought forward by the neighboring property owner.  
Commissioners noted that the proposed storm water conveyance system and pond should work so that no 
new additional storm water affects the adjacent property.  Commissioners stated that the proposed 
rezoning was consistent with the Comprehensive Plan.  Commissioners recommended approval to the City 
Council. 
 
 
Recommendation: 
The Planning Commission recommended approval of the requested rezoning, preliminary plat and final plat.  
Should the Council approve the request, the applicant would be required to enter into a development agreement 
with the City Council.  The following findings and conditions should be included with any approval: 
 

1. The proposed Rezoning and Preliminary Plat meet all applicable conditions and restrictions stated 
Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 

 
2. Approval of the Preliminary and Final Plat is subject to the following: 

 
a. The Applicant shall address all comments and applicable requirements pertaining to the 

development. 
 

b. The Applicant shall make all revisions requested in the staff report, by the Planning Commission and 
City Council. 

 
c. The applicant shall satisfactorily respond to all comments outlined in the attached memorandum 

from Hakanson Anderson, dated October 10, 2016. 
 

d. The applicant shall satisfactorily respond to all comments outlined in the attached memorandum 
from MSA Professionals, dated October 13, 2016. 

 
e. The Applicant shall comply with all applicable regulations and conditions prescribed by Minnehaha 

Creek Watershed District. 
 

f. The Applicant shall enter into a development agreement with the City for this development. 
 

g. The Applicant shall provide a letter of credit as established by the development agreement for all 
improvements associated with this development, if required. 

 
h. The Applicant shall provide the City with copies of the HOA agreement and covenants, including 

information related to the maintenance of the common stormwater pond. 
 

i. The Applicant shall obtain all necessary City, County, PCA and other regulatory agency approval 
and permits prior to construction. 

 



Settlers Prairie Subdivision – Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat Page 8 

 

3. The Applicant shall pay the park dedication fees in accordance with the terms defined in the 
Development Agreement. 

 
4. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review of the rezoning, preliminary and 

final plats. 
 

5. The Applicant shall submit the final plat and associated documents to the City within six (6) months of 
approval of the Preliminary Plat. 

 
 
Attachments: 

1. Property Pictures 
2. Grading Plans 
3. Street Construction Plans 
4. Preliminary Plat 
5. Final Plat 
6. Memo From Hakanson Anderson – Stormwater 
7. Memo From MSA Professionals - Engineering 

 

 

 
 

View of 1160 County Road 19 N. (Looking North) 

 



 
CITY OF INDEPENDENCE 
COUNTY OF HENNEPIN 
STATE OF MINNESOTA 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2016-08 

AMENDING THE CITY OF INDEPENDENCE  
ZONING CODE, INCLUDING ZONING MAPS 

 
 
 
THE CITY OF INDEPENDENCE DOES ORDAIN: 
 
Section 1. The City of Independence Zoning Code to be amended to rezone 19.83 
acres located at 1160 County Road 19 N., Independence, MN (PID No. 25-118-24-42-
0001): from A-Agriculture to RR-Rural Residential, illustrated in Exhibit A and legally 
described as follows: 

 
The north half or the northwest quarter of the southeast quarter of Section 25, 
Township 118, Range 24, Hennepin County Minnesota. 

 
Section 2.   The City Administrator is hereby directed to amend the City of 
Independence Zoning Ordinance, including Zoning Maps, in accordance with the 
foregoing amendment. 
 
Section 3.  Effective date.  This ordinance shall be and is hereby declared to be in full 
force and effect after its passage and publication according to law. 
 
 
Adopted by the Independence City Council this 15th day of November, 2016. 
 
       
 

_____________________________ 
       Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
Attest: 

 

___________________________________ 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 



 

Exhibit A 

 

  



 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 16-1115-03 

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PRELIMINARY AND FINAL PLAT  
FOR A DEVELOPMENT TO BE KNOWN AS   

SETTLERS PRAIRIE SUBDIVISION AS SUBMITTED BY B.BENSON GROUP 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Independence (the “City) is a municipal corporation under the laws 
of Minnesota; and 

WHEREAS, the City adopted a comprehensive plan in 2010 to guide the development of 
the community; and  

WHEREAS, the City has adopted a zoning and subdivision ordinance and other official 
controls to assist in implementing the comprehensive plan; and  

WHEREAS, B. Benson Group (the “Applicant”) submitted a preliminary and final plat for 
the property located at 1160 County Road 19 N. (the “Property”); and  

WHEREAS, the property is legally described as follows: 
 

The north half or the northwest quarter of the southeast quarter of Section 25, Township 
118, Range 24, Hennepin County Minnesota. 

WHEREAS, the Property is zoned Rural Residential; and 

WHEREAS the requested preliminary and final plat meets all requirements, standards and 
specifications of the City of Independence zoning and subdivision ordinances for Rural Residential 
lots; and 

WHEREAS the City held a public hearing on November 15, 2016 to review the application 
for rezoning and preliminary and final plat following mailed and published noticed as required by 
law; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed all materials submitted by the Applicant; 
considered the oral and written testimony offered by the applicant and all interested parties; and has 
now concluded that the application is in compliance with all applicable standards and can be 
considered for approval. 



NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
INDEPENDENCE, MINNESOTA, that it should and hereby does approve the application by B. 
Benson Group for preliminary and final plat for a subdivision to be known as SETTLERS 
PRAIRIE per the City’s subdivision and zoning regulations with the following conditions: 

1. The proposed Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plats meet all applicable conditions and 
restrictions stated Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning 
Ordinance. 

 
2. Approval of the Preliminary and Final Plat is subject to the following: 

 
a. The Applicant shall address all comments and applicable requirements pertaining to the 

development. 
 

b. The Applicant shall make all revisions requested in the staff report, by the Planning 
Commission and City Council. 

 
c. The applicant shall satisfactorily respond to all comments outlined in the attached 

memorandum from Hakanson Anderson, dated October 10, 2016. 
 

d. The applicant shall satisfactorily respond to all comments outlined in the attached 
memorandum from MSA Professionals, dated October 13, 2016. 

 
e. The Applicant shall comply with all applicable regulations and conditions prescribed by 

Minnehaha Creek Watershed District. 
 

f. The Applicant shall enter into a development agreement with the City for this 
development. 

 
g. The Applicant shall provide a letter of credit as established by the development 

agreement for all improvements associated with this development, if required. 
 

h. The Applicant shall provide the City with copies of the HOA agreement and covenants, 
including information related to the maintenance of the common stormwater pond. 

 
i. The Applicant shall obtain all necessary City, County, PCA and other regulatory agency 

approval and permits prior to construction. 
 

3. The development of Lots 2, 3 and 4, Block 1, when applying for a building permit, shall be 
subject to the review of the City Engineer in an effort to ensure that the existing drainage is 
not directed towards the adjacent properties. 
 

4. The Applicant shall pay the park dedication fees in accordance with the terms defined in the 
Development Agreement. 

 
5. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review of the rezoning, 

preliminary and final plats. 
 

6. The Applicant shall submit the final plat and associated documents to the City within six (6) 
months of approval of the preliminary plat. 

 



This resolution was adopted by the city council of the City of Independence on this 15th 
day of November, 2016, by a vote of ____ayes and ____nays. 

         

______________________________ 
       Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

 
 __________________________________ 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator  
 
(SEAL) 

 


















	1115 City Council Agenda
	City Council Minutes Draft 10-25-16
	AP Council only
	4635 Lake Sarah Road Variance and Minor Subdivision_City Council_11.15.2016
	4635 Lake Sarah Road Minor Subdivision Resolution 11.15.2016
	Becker-Variance & Subdivision
	8102-becker-09302016142228
	8415 Hitsman Lane Minor Subdivision_CC 11.15.2016
	8415 Hitsman Lane Minor Subdivision Resolution 11.15.2016
	Dayton Subdivision Permit
	8415 Hitsman Lane Survey
	Settlers Prairie Subdivision - Preliminary and Final Plat CC 11.15.2016
	IND_Settlers Prairie Rezoning Ord
	IND - Settlers Prairie_Preliminary and Final Plat Resolution 11.15.2016
	Settlers Prairie 10-31-16
	15-0501 01 SHEET COVER SHEET 10-31-16
	15-0501 02 SHEET GRADING PLAN 10-31-16
	15-0501 03 SHEET SETTLERS COURT P&P  10-31-16
	15-0501 04 SHEET SWPPP  10-31-16
	15-0501 05 SHEET SWPPP NARRATIVE  10-31-16
	15-0501 06 SHEET DETAILS  10-31-16

	15-0501 PP 10-31-16
	15-0501 FP DRAFT 9-16-16



